93335-3

FILED COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION II

2015 SEP 24 PM 2: 02

Court of Appeals No. 46130-7-II

FILED 007 072015

COLUMBIA RIVERKEEPER; and NORTHWEST EXAMPLE COURT DEFENSE CENTER, STATE OF WASHINGTON O

Petitioners,

v.

PORT OF VANCOUVER USA; JERRY OLIVER, Port of Vancouver USA Board of Commissioners President; BRIAN WOLFE, Port of Vancouver USA Board of Commissioners Vice President; and NANCY I. BAKER, Port of Vancouver USA Board of Commissioners Secretary,

Respondents.

## PETITION FOR REVIEW

## I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS.

The Petitioners are Columbia Riverkeeper and Northwest

Environmental Defense Center (collectively, "Riverkeeper"). Riverkeeper
was a plaintiff in the original action before the Clark County Superior

Court and the appellant in Division II of the Court of the Appeals.

#### II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION.

Riverkeeper seeks review of the published opinion terminating review issued by the Court of Appeals, Division II, on August 25, 2015, in Columbia Riverkeeper v. Port of Vancouver USA, a copy of which is appended hereto as Appendix A.

#### III. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW.

Regulations implementing the State Environmental Policy Act ("SEPA") prohibit agencies from taking actions that limit the choice of reasonable alternatives on a proposal before the preparation of an environmental impact statement ("EIS"). For a project subject to the Energy Facilities Site Locations Act ("EFSLA"), do SEPA's regulations prohibit actions that would limit the alternatives available to any agency with jurisdiction over the project?

### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

The Port of Vancouver USA ("Port") entered into a long-term binding lease wherein the Port consented to development of the nation's

largest crude oil by rail terminal on Port property. The terminal is subject to EFSLA, and SEPA regulations therefore require the Energy Facility Site Evaluation Council ("EFSEC") prepare the EIS evaluating and disclosing environmental impacts. However, the Port negotiated and executed its lease before the EIS was completed. The Court of Appeals ruled that the Port's lease, issued without the benefit of SEPA review, did not violate SEPA's prohibition on limiting alternatives because the lease did not limit the choice of alternatives available to EFSEC or the governor. The Court of Appeals ruled that actions limiting the Port's alternatives prior to the EIS are irrelevant. This position was not argued by the parties and is inconsistent with the Department of Ecology's ("Ecology") SEPA regulations, which are entitled to substantial deference.

## A. Statutory Framework.

## 1. The State Environmental Policy Act.

SEPA was enacted to "encourage productive and enjoyable harmony between humankind and the environment" and to "prevent or eliminate damage to the environment and biosphere." RCW 43.21C.010. SEPA requires agencies to integrate environmental concerns into their decision making processes by studying and explaining environmental consequences before decisions are made. *See Stempel v. Dep't of Water Res.*, 82 Wn.2d 109, 117–18 (1973).

SEPA requires that State agencies and local governments prepare, for any major action significantly affecting the quality of the environment, a "detailed statement" on:

(i) the environmental impact of the proposed action; (ii) any adverse environmental effects which cannot be avoided should the proposal be implemented; (iii) alternatives to the proposed action; (iv) the relationship between local short-term uses of the environment and the maintenance and enhancement of long-term productivity; and (v) any irreversible and irretrievable commitments of resources which would be involved in the proposed action should it be implemented.

RCW 43.21C.030(2)(C). This detailed statement is known as an EIS. *See* RCW 43.21C.031(1).

Ecology promulgates regulations to implement SEPA, RCW 43.21C.110, and such regulations are to be "accorded substantial deference." RCW 43.21C.095. Ecology's SEPA regulations provide that, where more than one agency has decision-making authority over a project, one agency is designated the "lead" SEPA agency responsible for preparing the EIS. *See* WAC 197-11-050(2)(b), -055(5), *and* -922 *through* -948. Other agencies must use the lead agency's EIS when making their own decisions, subject to limited exceptions not relevant here. WAC 197-11-600(3)(c). Ecology's regulations further provide that: Until the responsible official issues a...final [EIS], no

action concerning the proposal shall be taken by a

governmental agency that would...[l]imit the choice of reasonable alternatives.

WAC 197-11-070(1)(b). Ecology defines "reasonable alternative" as:

[A]n action that could feasibly attain or approximate a proposal's objectives, but at a lower environmental cost or decreased level of environmental degradation. Reasonable alternatives may be those over which an agency with jurisdiction has authority to control impacts, either directly, or indirectly through requirement of mitigation measures.

WAC 197-11-786. Ecology further defines "agency with jurisdiction" to mean:

[A]n agency with authority to approve, veto, or finance all or part of a nonexempt proposal (or part of a proposal).

WAC 197-11-714(3).

## 2. The Energy Facilities Site Locations Act.

EFSLA regulates projects that implicate substantial public interests—oil refineries, oil terminals, and nuclear power plants. *See* RCW 80.50.020(12)(a) *through* (f). The statute applies to oil terminals "which will have the capacity to receive more than an average of fifty thousand barrels per day..." *See* RCW 80.50.020(12)(d).

EFSLA created EFSEC—an agency consisting of a chair person appointed by the governor, the heads of several State agencies, and other public officials—to administer a regulatory certification process. *See* 

RCW 80.50.030. After reviewing an application for a large energy facility, EFSEC recommends that the governor either certify the project under EFSLA or reject the project. RCW 80.50.100(1)(a). If certified, the applicant may construct and operate the energy facility subject to the terms set forth in the certification, which acts "in lieu of any permit, certificate, or similar document required by any department, agency, division, bureau, board, or political subdivision of this state, which a member of [EFSEC] or not." RCW 80.50.120(3). EFSLA thus preempts the "regulation and certification" of facilities subject to the statute. *See* RCW 80.50.110(2). However, nothing in EFSLA gives EFSEC the power to preempt real estate agreements or to exercise eminent domain.

EFSLA exempts certain actions taken on an energy project subject to the statute, other than those of EFSEC, from SEPA's EIS requirement. RCW 80.50.180 (action exempt to the extent it "approves, authorizes, [or] permits...the location, financing or construction" of the project). Ecology's regulations specify that EFSEC is the lead SEPA agency for projects subject to EFSLA. WAC 197-11-938(1). EFSEC adopted that regulation and Ecology's regulations prohibiting actions that limit reasonable alternatives before an EIS is complete and defining "reasonable alternative." WAC 463-47-020 (adopting WAC 197-11-070 and -786).

## B. The Port's Lease for a Crude-by-Rail Terminal.

A newly created joint venture between Tesoro Corporation and Savage Companies ("Tesoro-Savage") proposes to develop the largest crude-by-rail terminal in North America on public property along the shore of the Columbia River near downtown Vancouver, Washington. *See* CP 76, 89, 167. The facility would receive up to 360,000 barrels of crude oil daily. CR 162, 166. The oil would arrive at the facility on an average of four trains each day, each consisting of 120 tanker cars. CP 163. The terminal would store up to two million barrels of crude oil in large aboveground tanks before loading it onto tanker ships for transport down the Columbia River and over the Columbia River bar. *See* CP 162, 166.

The Port entered into a binding lease with Tesoro-Savage establishing legal rights and obligations for the development of the crude oil terminal on October 22, 2013. *See* CP 269–697. This was before the SEPA process to evaluate and publicly disclose the project's impacts had even begun.

The lease prescribes the permitted use as a terminal that will load and unload oil by rail and marine vessels and store and blend petroleum

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Port first voted to approve the lease on July 23, 2013, but then voted again in October in an effort to "cure" violations of the Open Public Meetings Act. *See* CP 43–44.

products. CP 277. The term is ten years from commencement of terminal operations with two options to extend for five years each. *See* CP 274.

The lease includes a preliminary description of the terminal and requires the Port and Tesoro-Savage to "work diligently and in good faith to . . . develop and approve depictions and legal descriptions of the Final Premises . . . ." CP 273–74, 281. The lease sets insurance requirements, which require only \$25 million in pollution liability insurance for what would be the nation's largest crude-by rail facility. *See* CP 277–78, 309–10. The lease establishes procedures for evaluating and remediating environmental contamination at the conclusion of the lease. CP 300–01.

The lease conditions Tesoro-Savage's right to develop the terminal on obtaining "all necessary licenses, permits and approvals...for the Permitted Use"—namely, certification under EFSLA. See CP 281.

Further, the lease provides that "a final Facility and Safety Plan shall be mutually approved [by the Port and Tesoro-Savage] prior to operation of the Facility." CP 330. However, the lease obligates the Port to "work diligently and in good faith [with Tesoro-Savage] to pursue all necessary licenses, permits, and approvals required for the development and construction of the Facility for the Permitted Use." CP 281.

EFSEC determined that the project is likely to have a significant impact on the environment, triggering the need for an EIS. CP 167.

EFSEC is the lead SEPA agency preparing the EIS for the oil terminal. *Id.* The initial SEPA hearings were scheduled for October 28 and 29, 2013—after the Port executed the lease. *See* CP 166. The SEPA process is ongoing.

## C. Proceedings Below.

Riverkeeper filed a complaint on October 2, 2013, alleging violations of the Open Public Meetings Act ("OPMA") stemming from, *inter alia*, the Port excluding the public from deliberations on the lease. *See* CP 9–10, 13. Riverkeeper amended its pleadings on October 31, 2013, to allege two SEPA violations: (1) that the Port violated SEPA by executing the lease before the EIS was complete; and (2) by taking an action, in the form of the lease, that limits the choice of reasonable alternatives before completion of the EIS. CP 14–15.

The Port moved for summary judgment on all claims on December 2, 2013. See CP 32–71. Regarding the first SEPA claim, the superior court held that the Port did not violate SEPA because EFSLA exempts the lease from the EIS requirement. CP 1012. On the second SEPA claim, the Port argued that it did not violate the prohibition on actions that limit alternatives because "the Port retains discretion to require modifications as a result of information that is revealed during the SEPA process." CP

971.<sup>2</sup> Specifically, the Port contended that it retains discretion to approve construction plans, modify insurance requirements, and approve the safety and operations plan. CP 970–71. The superior court agreed with the Port, finding that "contingencies contained in the lease ensure that...[it] does not limit the reasonable range of alternatives..." CP 1012.<sup>3</sup>

The superior court granted a CR 54(b) motion filed by Riverkeeper and entered final judgment on the SEPA claims, allowing immediate appeal. CP 1016. The superior court noted that the issues "presented [by the SEPA claims] are of substantial public importance" and that "[t]he proposed crude oil terminal . . . has drawn the attention of a wide variety of Washington agencies, interest groups, and citizens." *Id*.

The Court of Appeals affirmed summary judgment in favor of the Port. Appendix A, pp. 2, 19. The Court of Appeals agreed with the superior court on the first SEPA claim, finding that EFSLA exempts the lease from the EIS requirement. *Id.* at 5–12.

On the second SEPA claim, the Court of Appeals ruled that, for projects subject to EFSLA, SEPA only prohibits actions that limit the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Port also argued that the lease does not limit the choice of alternatives available to EFSEC. See CP 63, 969–70. Riverkeeper does not contest that point in this Petition. See CP 63, 969–70.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The superior court granted Riverkeeper's CR 56(f) request for a continuance of the Port's summary judgment motion on the OPMA claims to allow for discovery. CP 1012.

alternatives available to EFSEC and that any limitations on alternatives available to the Port are immaterial. *Id.* at 16–17. The Court of Appeals arrived at this holding by first finding the SEPA regulation codified at WAC 197-11-070(1)(b) ambiguous as to which agency's alternatives cannot be limited. *Id.* at 15–16. The Court of Appeals then noted that EFSLA vests "all authority regarding certification of energy facilities with [EFSEC] and the governor." *Id.* at 17. The Court of Appeals resolved the apparent ambiguity in the SEPA regulation by applying the principle of statutory construction under which precedence is given to the more specific of two conflicting provisions. *Id.* at 16–17.

The construction adopted by the Court of Appeals—that SEPA only prohibits actions that limit alternatives available to EFSEC—was never argued by the parties.<sup>4, 5</sup> Such a construction conflicts with Ecology's interpretations of "reasonable alternative" and "agency with jurisdiction." Further, the decision misapplied this Court's statutory construction precedents because there is no conflict between SEPA and EFSLA regulatory or statutory provisions. If the ambiguity was not

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> As noted, the Port argued that it retained sufficient post-EIS discretion over the proposal such that it had not unlawfully limited its alternatives. CP 970–71.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The Court of Appeals therefore should not have ruled in this manner without requesting supplemental briefing. See RAP 12.1.

resolved by Ecology's SEPA regulations, the Court of Appeals should have addressed the matter consistent with the Legislature's direction "that, to the fullest extent possible...[t]he policies, regulations, and laws of the state of Washington shall be interpreted and administered in accordance with the policies set forth in [SEPA]..." RCW 43.21C.030(1).

## V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED.

This Court should review the Court of Appeals' holding that a Port can commit to hosting a large energy facility on public property without evaluating or disclosing the impacts to the public. *See* Appendix A, pp. 15–17. Review should be accepted because of the substantial public interest raised by this issue. *See* RAP 13.4(b)(4). This Court should also accept review because the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with existing precedent. *See* RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2).

# A. The Public has a Substantial Interest in Local Officials Understanding Risks before Leasing Public Property for Large Energy Projects.

The public has a substantial interest in ensuring that local officials understand the consequences of their decisions, especially when such decisions relate to controversial and potentially dangerous energy facilities. SEPA recognizes, and was designed specifically to vindicate, this type of interest. *See Stempel*, 82 Wn.2d at 117–18 (by requiring consideration of environmental impacts before decisions are made, SEPA

attempts to shape the "future environment by deliberation, not default"); see also King Cnty. v. Wash. State Boundary Review Bd., 122 Wn.2d 648, 658–59 (1993). The Court of Appeals' decision undercuts SEPA's ability to protect that important public interest with respect to Tesoro-Savage's proposal and other pending proposals under EFSLA. This Court should therefore accept review. See RAP 13.4(b)(4).

Over the past decade, new technologies and rising energy prices precipitated an unprecedented level of fossil fuel extraction in central North America. Producers of crude oil, natural gas, coal, and liquefied petroleum gas increasingly seek to bring these fossil fuels to market through Washington's public ports. Communities across Washington now face 'pipelines on rails' headed toward Washington ports such as Vancouver, Longview, Grays Harbor, and Anacortes.<sup>6</sup> This headlong race to get new fossil fuels to market has resulted in catastrophic oil train derailments, spills, and explosions across North America.<sup>7</sup> Additionally, the toxic air pollution from new oil terminals, refineries, and diesel locomotives poses harm to thousands of Washingtonians.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Sightline Institute, *The Northwest's Pipeline on Rails*, p. 1 (2015) (online at: http://www.sightline.org/research/the-northwests-pipeline-on-rails/).

<sup>7</sup> Pipeline and Heaville Sefera Advisited in Page 6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Pipeline and Hazardous Materials Safety Administration, *Draft*Regulatory Impact Analysis for Enhanced Tank Car Standards and
Operational Controls for High-Hazard Flammable Trains, p. 2 (2014).

Faced with this rapid increase of fossil fuel shipping proposals—some of which are also subject to EFSEC review—port and other local officials must evaluate the benefits and risks of these projects. By virtue of land ownership, ports and cites have power to determine appropriate uses of public property and to require tenants mitigate their environmental impacts. Ports and cities across Washington are currently deciding whether, or under what conditions, to approve fossil fuel shipping and processing projects.<sup>8</sup>

When an energy facility proposed on port or city property does not trigger EFSEC's regulatory review, SEPA plays an important, and mandatory, role in the local agency's decision-making process. For instance, the Washington Shorelines Hearings Board invalidated the City of Hoquiam's attempt to approve a crude-by-rail terminal without preparing an EIS. *See Quinault Indian Nation*, S.H.B. Order No. 13-012c, pp. 14–38 (2013) (order on summary judgment). The City of Hoquiam, with Ecology's assistance, is preparing an EIS before deciding whether, and under what terms, to approve the oil terminal.

Ports have the same authority, and make precisely the same type of decisions, whether or not EFSEC conducts the regulatory review and site

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Sightline Institute, *The Northwest's Pipeline on Rails*, p. 2 (2015).

certification.<sup>9</sup> It is illogical that a port need not evaluate an EIS when deciding whether to host a large oil terminal (which triggers EFSLA) but a port *must* use an EIS to make the same decision about a smaller project. A port's authority, and the decision before it, are identical in both instances. SEPA exists to vindicate the public's interest in fully informed environmental decision-making at all levels of government. The Court of Appeals' opinion undercuts that public interest when it matters most: in the context of Washington's largest energy facilities.

Other Washington ports are preparing to make decisions similar to the lease at issue in this case. There are at least two energy projects currently proposed that will trigger EFSEC review; an oil refinery and a liquefied petroleum gas terminal, both proposed at the Port of Longview. The Port of Longview will therefore soon decide whether, and under what terms, to allow these energy facilities to use public land and infrastructure. The Port of Longview's authority as a land owner presents the opportunity for that port to evaluate the impacts and disclose them to Longview residents prior to approving the projects. Nevertheless, the Court of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> From a port's perspective, the only difference when ESFEC is involved is that EFSEC performs all the regulatory tasks that would otherwise get divvyed up between several State and local agencies.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> See Port of Longview website (last accessed Sep. 23, 2014): http://www.portoflongview.com/AboutThePort/ProjectsProposals/Watersi deEnergy.aspx.

Appeals' opinion allows the Port of Longview to make these decisions before the completion of an EIS. Given the number and size of energy facilities proposed at Washington ports over the last decade, it is almost certain that more projects will fall into the SEPA loophole created by the Court of Appeals.

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