RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Oct 27, 2015, 12:12 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER **CLERK**

Supreme Court No. 92335-3

Court of Appeals No. 46130-7-II

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

COLUMBIA RIVERKEEPER; and NORTHWEST ENVIRONMENTAL DEFENSE CENTER,

Petitioners,

v.

PORT OF VANCOUVER USA; JERRY OLIVER, Port of Vancouver USA Board of Commissioners President; BRIAN WOLFE, Port of Vancouver USA Board of Commissioners Vice President; and NANCY I. BAKER, Port of Vancouver USA Board of Commissioners Secretary,

Respondents.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

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

RAP 13.4(b).

Riverkeeper proceeds under the first, second, and fourth criteria, arguing review should be granted due to "the substantial public interest raised" in the Court of Appeals' decision and because the decision allegedly "conflicts with existing precedent." (Pet. at 11.) Although the larger controversy regarding the Vancouver Energy terminal is of public significance and interest, the legal issue raised by Riverkeeper in its Petition is not. Indeed, the Court of Appeals found that the issue presented by the Petition was immaterial and irrelevant. And the decision is consistent with, rather than in conflict with, relevant precedent.

B. The Petition does not raise an issue of substantial public interest, as the Court of Appeals' interpretation of SEPA regulations is uncontroversial.

The Petition does not involve a substantial public interest because the sole legal issue—whether an entity without final decision-making authority could constrain the final decisionmaker when the subordinate agency acts contingently—is not one that is in substantial controversy, or one that has meaning for the outcome of this case.

To constitute an issue of substantial public interest, a Court of Appeals' decision should have broad application to numerous situations and significantly affect the legal landscape. *See State v. Watson*, 155 Wn.2d 574, 577, 122 P.3d 903, 904 (2005) (finding substantial interest

where Court of Appeals' holding could affect every sentencing in the county, invited unnecessary litigation, and could chill policy actions by attorneys and judges); *In re Disciplinary Proceedings Against Bonet*, 144 Wn.2d 502, 513, 29 P.3d 1242, 1248 (2001) (granting review regarding whether a prosecutor may offer an inducement to a defense witness to not testify at a criminal proceeding). A litigant's mere disagreement with the Court of Appeals' decision is not sufficient. *See* RAP 13.4(b) (stating that this Court will accept review "only" on the four grounds listed).

The relevant regulation provides that "[u]ntil the responsible official issues a final determination of nonsignificance or final environmental impact statement, no action concerning the proposal shall be taken by a governmental agency that would . . . [l]imit the choice of reasonable alternatives." WAC 197-11-070(1)(b). An action limits the choice of reasonable alternatives if it "coerce[s]" a specific final outcome prior to issuance of the EIS. Clark PUD, 137 Wn. App. at 162, 151 P.3d at 1072; accord Int'l Longshore & Warehouse Union Local 19 v. City of Seattle, 176 Wn. App. 512, 524-25, 309 P.3d 654, 660-61 (2013) (rejecting argument that a memorandum of understanding had "coercive effect"). This does not mean that an agency or applicant cannot propose a specific course of action, but only that the final decision must not be predetermined. "Early designation of a preferred alternative in no way

restricts the lead agency's final decisions." (Wash. Dep't of Ecol., SEPA Handbook § 3.3.2.2., p. 55.)

The regulation "does not preclude developing plans or designs, issuing requests for proposals (RFPs), securing options, or performing other work necessary to develop an application for a proposal, as long as such activities are consistent with subsection (1)." WAC 197-11-070(4). In sum, the regulation prohibits an agency from making an "irreversible or irretrievable commitment of resources" before completion of environmental review. *Int'l Longshore*, 176 Wn. App. at 525, 309 P.3d at 661 (citing *Metcalf v. Daley*, 214 F.3d 1135, 1142-43 (9th Cir. 2000)). Here, the lease does not restrict full consideration of the proposed terminal, but simply frames the proposal for environmental review.

Riverkeeper argued below that the lease restricted the Governor's and Council's ultimate authority. (App. B at 33-36.) It also argued that the Port had made a commitment that would be binding once the Governor approved the project. (*Id.* at 25-32.) The Court of Appeals analyzed those arguments in the context of the applicable regulation. Because the regulation refers only to "*the* choice" of reasonable alternatives, the court asked whose choice was at issue. (App. A at 15-16.) In the context of the energy siting law, the decisionmakers are the Council and the Governor. RCW 80.50.100. Because the siting law preempts all other laws relating

to energy facilities, the court looked to whether the Port had restricted the Governor's or Council's choice. In light of the express contingency of the lease upon the final Council and Governor determinations, the court held the lease did not limit the choices by those decisionmakers.

Riverkeeper argues that the Court of Appeals erred by not asking whether "the choice of reasonable alternatives" included choices by the Port. (See Pet. at 16-19.) In the context of this case, that is an irrelevant question. Riverkeeper concedes that the Council's and Governor's choices were not limited. And it does not claim that the Port has any power to override those final decisionmakers. Regardless of the policy implications of this project, and the substantial public interest in the project, whether the Port's alternatives were limited is not a question that this Court needs to answer.

By its very nature, the decision is limited to projects subject to Council review. Riverkeeper did not argue, and consequently the Court of Appeals did not hold, that the Court of Appeals' decision about the Port's lease would apply to every project involving fossil fuels or all leases that might be subject to SEPA review. Instead, consistent with the Port's arguments, the Court of Appeals held that the Port's entry into the lease agreement did not violate SEPA because the project involved an energy facility subject to EFSLA, the lease was "expressly conditioned" on the

tenant obtaining certification through the Council process, and the Council and the Governor had broad discretion to approve, reject, modify, or supplement the lease terms. (App. A at 17; *see also* App. E at 16:13-17:11.) The Court of Appeals' decision is limited to projects subject to Council review and further limited by the terms of the specific lease.

Riverkeeper claims that the Court of Appeals' focus on the Governor's and Council's choice of alternatives was not argued below, but the Port presented this argument to the Court of Appeals and both parties discussed it during oral argument. (*See*, *e.g.*, App. C at 4 ("Riverkeeper has not identified how the Port can limit the ultimate decision making of the Council or of the Governor."); *id.* at 40 (arguing same); App. D at 19, 23 (arguing that the lease "irreversibly and irretrievably committed the Port to hosting the oil terminal," and was "designed to, and does, build momentum that [the Council] and Governor may find difficult to resist"); App. E at 10:24-14:4, 16:13-20:25, 26:23-27:17.)

Riverkeeper claims the Court of Appeals established a "loophole" for non-lead agencies to violate WAC 197-11-070. (Pet. at 15.) Not so. In any project, every agency is required to comply with section - 070. This case is the unusual instance where the lead agency (the Council) has the authority to approve the project after the Governor's final decision. Thus, as in *Clark PUD*, an agency that will be the final decisionmaker

cannot tie its own hands prior to environmental review. But the question is always addressed from the point of view of the final decisionmaker.

This principle is noncontroversial and does not require review.

Riverkeeper points to WAC 197-11-786, the definition of "reasonable alternative," in an attempt to find flaws in the panel's reasoning. As Riverkeeper points out, the regulation refers to alternatives over which "an agency with jurisdiction has authority to control impacts, either directly, or indirectly through requirement of mitigation measures." (Pet. at 17.) Riverkeeper, however, ignores the phrase "has authority." While the Port has authority over the project, the Port does not have SEPA authority because that review will be conducted by the Council with the Governor making the final permitting decision. The Court of Appeals also did not find that the Port had limited its choice of alternatives. Instead, the Court of Appeals held that "[b]ecause the legislature has placed all authority regarding certification of energy facilities with the Council and the governor, in this context whether a local agency's choices have been limited is irrelevant." (App. A at 17.)

The arguments raised in the Petition threatens the special review system that the Legislature established with EFSLA. The Legislature recognized that there is a "pressing need" for energy facilities, but that such facilities also raise significant environmental questions. RCW

80.50.010. The Legislature concentrated and centralized the review and approval process for such facilities, placing the ultimate decision in the hands of the Governor. Siting decisions implicate significant policy questions and substantial public interests, and the Governor is well equipped to weigh the interests and answer the questions. This suit inappropriately tries to piecemeal a review process that should be concentrated with the Governor and the Council. There is a substantial public interest, as declared by the Legislature, in maintaining the integrity of the Council process—an interest that weighs against the Petition.

Riverkeeper ignores another timing issue. WAC 197-11-070(1) applies only "[u]ntil the responsible official issues a final determination of nonsignificance or final environmental impact statement[.]" The EIS here will be issued several months before the Council makes its recommendation or the Governor issues a decision. These latter events, rather than the issuance of the EIS, are necessary to satisfy the lease's condition precedent. Thus, at the time the EIS is issued, and WAC 197-11-070 ceases to apply, the lease will still be fully contingent on events that have not yet happened. Thus, this lease could not limit the Port's alternatives in a way that would violate WAC 197-11-070.

C. The Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict with another appellate decision of this State.

Riverkeeper fails to establish that the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with another decision of the Court of Appeals interpreting SEPA regulations or a decision from this Court setting forth principles of statutory interpretation. Because no direct conflict exists between the decision and the appellate decisions cited by Riverkeeper, review is unwarranted.

1. The Court of Appeals correctly applied *Clark PUD*.

The decision comports with, rather than conflicts with, Division II's decision in *Clark PUD*. Indeed, the Court of Appeals here acknowledged that Riverkeeper's argument regarding *Clark PUD* "might have some merit if the Port was conducting the EIS and making the certification decision." (App. A at 18.) But because the Port's lease was expressly conditioned on Council review and certification—where the Council and the Governor enjoy broad discretion and decision-making authority—*Clark PUD*'s statements forbidding the decision maker from committing all of its financial resources to a project prior to an EIS does not apply to the lease at issue.

In *Clark PUD*, the public utility district applied to the Department of Ecology for a preliminary permit to allow testing of groundwater at a

location where the utility planned a new wellfield project. 137 Wn. App. at 154, 151 P.3d at 1068. Ecology approved the permit initially, but the Pollution Control Hearings Board reversed the approval because it found that Ecology should have conducted a SEPA review in advance and the approval limited the choice of reasonable alternatives. *Id.* at 155-56, 151 P.3d at 1069. After Ecology completed the required review, it again approved the preliminary permit, but the Board dismissed the approval. *Id.* at 156, 151 P.3d at 1069.

On appeal, the Court of Appeals reversed, holding that Ecology's approval of a preliminary permit did not limit the choice of reasonable alternatives. *Id.* at 162, 151 P.3d at 1072. The court noted that Ecology's approval of the permit "will have no influence on whether it approves [the utility's] application for groundwater rights" and does not "coerce Ecology to grant groundwater rights at Fruit Valley simply because it issued the permit." *Id.* The court explained that the utility's reasonable alternatives might be limited "if it was forced to put all of its financial resources in one project," and therefore "might be less inclined to explore alternate sites that could have a lower environmental impact." *Id.* However, because the parties agreed that the utility's cost for the testing was a small fraction of the overall cost for the project and the utility planned to conduct the testing to obtain data on environmental impacts of the project, the Court of

Appeals held that the permit allowing testing did not limit the utility's choice of alternatives. *Id.* at 163, 151 P.3d at 1072.

Similarly here, the Court of Appeals noted that the Port's entry into the lease would not influence or affect the Council's or the Governor's ultimate decision about the project. (App. A at 18.) The lease was instead conditioned on and subject to that ultimate decision. In so holding, the Court of Appeals followed *Clark PUD* to the extent it applies here.

2. The Court of Appeals' decision is consistent with precedent regarding statutory conflicts.

In its last-ditch argument for review, Riverkeeper asserts that the Court of Appeals misapplied this Court's precedent by resolving the ambiguity in WAC 197-11-070(1)(b), by reference to EFSLA, which places the administrative responsibility for energy facilities with the Governor and the Council. (App. A at 16.) Riverkeeper argues that "no such conflict exists" between the SEPA regulation and the EFSLA statute, so it contends the Court of Appeals misapplied precedent by finding that the more specific statute controlled its resolution of the ambiguity. (Pet. at 20.) Riverkeeper is incorrect.

The Court of Appeals explained that it strives to construe laws relating to the same subject matter together, but to the extent the laws conflict, it gives precedence to the more specific law. (App. A at 16, citing Residents Opposed to Kittitas Turbines v. State Energy Facility Site

Evaluation Council (EFSEC), 165 Wn.2d 275, 308-09, 197 P.3d 1153, 1169 (2008).) That was consistent with this Court's precedent. *Kittitas*, 165 Wn.2d at 308-09; *see*, *e.g.*, *Staats v. Brown*, 139 Wn.2d 757, 789, 991 P.2d 615, 632 (2000) (holding that "our rule of statutory construction . . . provides that a specific statute controls over a general statute on the same topic").

The Court of Appeals' reasoning harmonizes EFSLA and SEPA. It respects the Legislature's command to centralize energy project review with the Council. This is just what this Court directs: to read statutes together to the extent possible. *O.S.T. ex rel. G.T. v. BlueShield*, 181 Wn.2d 691, 701, 335 P.3d 416, 421 (2014). The Court of Appeals used EFSLA as an interpretative tool to determine what the regulation means in the context of this case.

Like this Court in *Kittitas Turbines*, the Court of Appeals was tasked with construing EFSLA, which centralizes regulation of energy facilities with the Council, with potentially overlapping environmental regulations. The Court of Appeals analyzed the competing laws and construed the SEPA regulation in accordance with EFSLA's purpose, preemptive effect, and grant of broad discretion to the Council and the Governor. (App. A at 16.) As a result of its analysis, the Court of Appeals resolved the ambiguity in the regulation, and any statutory conflict, by

holding that when certification of energy facilities is involved, SEPA prohibits actions that would limit the choice of reasonable alternatives available to the Council and the Governor. (*Id.* at 16-17.) The Court of Appeals thus followed this Court's precedent and there is no basis for review.

V. CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals applied existing precedent and interpreted the relevant statutes in accordance with their plain language and purposes. The Court of Appeals' decision does not trigger any of the RAP 13.4(b) considerations, as it is not in conflict with other appellate precedent and does not raise issues of substantial public interest. This Court should deny the Petition for Review.